
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 

 
In re:         Chapter 9 
 
CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN,   Case No. 13-53846 
 
 Debtor.      Hon. Steven W. Rhodes 
_________________________________/ 
 

CATHERINE PHILLIPS, et al.’s MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM 
ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 105(a) OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE 

EXTENDING THE CHAPTER 9 STAY TO CERTAIN  
(A) STATE ENTITIES, (B) NON OFFICER EMPLOYEES AND  

(C) AGENTS AND REPRESENTATIVES OF THE DEBTOR  
 

Now come Petitioners Catherine Phillips, et al. (hereafter “Petitioners”) and hereby 

requests that this Court modify its Order Pursuant to Section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code 

Extending the Chapter 9 Stay to Certain (A) State Entities, (B) Non Officer Employees and (C) 

Agents and Representatives of the Debtor (Dkt. 166), (hereafter “Extended Stay Order”), to lift 

the Extended Stay from the matter entitled Catherine Phillips, et al.  v. Richard Snyder and 

Andrew Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-11370, (Exh. 6.1, Phillips Complaint).  In support of this 

Motion, Petitioners state as follows:  

1. On March 27, 2013, Petitioners herein filed a Complaint in the United States 

District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan, naming Michigan Governor Richard D. 

Snyder and Michigan Treasurer Andrew Dillon (hereafter, “Defendants”) as defendants, 

Catherine Phillips, et al. v. Snyder and Dillon. Case No. 13-CV-11370, (Exh. 6.1, Phillips 

Complaint), (hereafter “the Phillips case”).   

2. In their Complaint, (Exh. 6.1), Petitioners allege that  Public Act 436 of 2012, 

M.C.L.A. §§141.1541 et. seq., (hereafter “PA 436”), violates various federal statutory and 
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Constitutional rights.    Petitioners sought declaratory and injunctive relief.  The City of Detroit 

(hereafter, “Debtor”) is not, and has never been, a party to that action. 

3. On July 19, 2013, Debtor filed a motion seeking to extend the Chapter 9 stay to 

include certain state entities, non-officer employees and agents and representatives of the Debtor. 

(Dkt. 56,  Motion of Debtor For Entry of Order Extending the Chapter 9 Stay to Certain (A) 

State Entities, (B) Non-Officer Employees and (C) Agents and Representatives of the Debtor, 

(hereafter “Motion to Extend Stay”)  Specifically, Debtor requested  

that the Court exercise its equitable power under Section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy 
Code to extend the Chapter 9 stay to actions or proceedings against the Governor, 
the State Treasurer and the members of the Loan Board . . . that, directly or 
indirectly, seek to enforce claims against the City, interfere with the City’s 
activities in this Chapter 9 case or otherwise deny the City the protections of 
the Chapter 9 stay.” 

 
(Dkt 56, Motion to Extend Stay, p. 13 at ¶ 20) (emphasis added)   

4. In support of its Motion, Debtor specifically identified and discussed at length 

three (3) cases, referred to as the “Prepetition Lawsuits,” that had been filed in the Ingham 

County Circuit Court: a) Webster v. State of Mich., No. 13-734-CZ (Ingham Cnty. Cir. Ct. July 3, 

2013,   (the “Webster Lawsuit;”);   b) Flowers v. Snyder, No. 13 729-CZ (Ingham Cnty. Cir. Ct. 

July 3, 2013), (the “Flowers Lawsuit”); and c)  Gen. Ret. Sys. of the City of Detroit v. Orr, No. 

13-768-CZ (Ingham Cnty. Cir. Ct. Jul. 17, 2013), (the “Pension Systems Lawsuit”); and ex parte 

injunction orders that had issued against the Governor and the State Treasurer in those suits that 

had the express purpose and effect of enjoining the defendants in those cases from authorizing a 

Chapter 9 filing, from taking any further action in aid of the same, and from taking any action 

that might lead to the impairment of pension claims. (Dkt. 56,  Motion to Extend Stay, pp. 5-7, 

14-15, ¶¶ 10-12, 22-23)   

5. Debtor’s Motion clarified that the extension of the Stay applied specifically to the 
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“Prepetition Lawsuits” insofar as those lawsuits -- unlike the Phillips case herein – sought “…to 

enforce the plaintiffs’ claims against the City or to exercise control over the City’s property 

rights including its powers and rights under Chapter 9.”  (Dkt. 56, Motion to Extend Stay, p. 15, 

¶23, fn 4)  

6. Indeed, Debtor’s Motion was very explicit in limiting the extension of its 

requested Stay to actions which “…directly or indirectly seek to enforce claims against the City, 

interfere with the City’s activities in this chapter [sic] 9 case or otherwise deny the City the 

protections of the Chapter 9 Stay.” (Dkt. 56, Motion to Extend Stay, p. 13, ¶20) 

7. Debtor’s Motion – clearly in direct response to the aforementioned “Prepetition 

Lawsuits” — further asked that this Court enter an Order to “provid[e] expressly, for the 

avoidance of doubt,” that each of the identified “Prepetition Lawsuits,” be stayed pending further 

order of the Court.   

8. It is noteworthy that Petitioners’ suit herein was not among those identified by 

Debtor, (Dkt. 56, pp. 5-6), insofar as the Phillips case had been filed on March27, 2013, long 

before the filing of this Chapter 9 bankruptcy petition, while all three of the “Prepetition 

Lawsuits” referred to by Debtor in its Motion were filed between July 3 and July 17, 2013, 

literally days before the filing of the Chapter 9 petition herein.  

9. On July 25, 2013, this Court entered the Extended Stay Order, (Dkt. 166), broadly 

extending the Chapter 9 stay to include certain “State Entities (defined as the Governor, the State 

Treasurer and the members of the Loan Board, collectively with the State Treasurer and the 

Governor, and together with each entity’s staff, agents and representatives), Non-Officer 

Employees and the City Agents and Representatives,” Id. at 2, without  any of the 

aforementioned qualifying limitations specified by Debtor in its Motion.  

13-53846-swr    Doc 1004    Filed 09/23/13    Entered 09/23/13 17:35:17    Page 3 of 16



4 
 

10. While the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) also expressly provides that “For the 

avoidance of doubt, each of the Prepetition Lawsuits hereby is stayed…,” this Court did not 

directly incorporate the Debtor’s own language, identifying the “Prepetition Lawsuits” in 

question, specifically, the Webster, Flowers, and Pension Systems lawsuits.   

11. On August 7, 2013, the Michigan Attorney General’s office, through Assistant 

Attorneys General Denise C. Barton, Ann M. Sherman and Michael F. Murphy, filed a Notice of 

Pendency of Bankruptcy Case and Application of the Automatic Stay, (Exh. 6.2, Phillips case, 

Dkt. #29), seeking enforcement of Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) to the adjudication of the 

Phillips case.  This Notice was not filed by, or on behalf of, the Debtor in this case. 

12. On August 22, 2013, the United States District Court, Honorable George Steeh, 

entered an Order Regarding Notice of Pendency of Bankruptcy Case and Application of the 

Automatic Stay, (Exh. 6.3, Phillips case, Dkt. #30) (hereafter “Steeh Order”), staying Petitioners’ 

declaratory/injunctive relief action  -- a case which challenges the constitutionality of Public Act 

436 as it affects every single municipality in the State of Michigan -- despite the fact that 

Petitioners’ suit herein, Phillips v. Snyder, was not one of those specifically identified by Debtor 

as problematic or one that sought to enforce claims against Debtor, interfere with its activities in 

the Chapter 9 case or otherwise deprive it of any protections of the Chapter 9 stay. (Exh. 6.3,  

Steeh Order).     

13. In entering the aforementioned Order, (Exh. 6.3), the District Court expressly 

noted that “it is not apparent that any interests of the City of Detroit bankruptcy proceedings are 

implicated” in Petitioners’ action.  Nonetheless, the District Court concluded that it was bound 

by the terms of the “broadly worded Extension Order issued by the bankruptcy court,” and was 

therefore required to stay the case “unless and until such time as an order issues lifting or 
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modifying the stay to permit the captioned matter to proceed.” (Exh. 6.3, Steeh Order. Pp.1-2) 

14. Petitioners herein, as plaintiffs in the Phillips case, seek an adjudication of the 

constitutionality of PA 436 in general, as applied to the entire State of Michigan, and not specific 

to any municipality, including the Debtor City of Detroit, or to the propriety or lawfulness of the 

Chapter 9 bankruptcy proceedings in this action.  The plaintiffs in Petitioners’ cause of action are 

comprised of persons who represent themselves and interested organizations across the State.   In 

addition to the proposed withdrawing plaintiffs, the cause of action consists of eighteen (18) 

plaintiffs representing nine (9) groups.  For example, those groups with whom these plaintiffs are 

affiliated are: the Pontiac City Council, the Benton Harbor City Commission, the Flint City 

Council, Rainbow Push Coalition, the National Action Network, the Council of Baptist Pastors 

of Detroit and Vicinity, the Detroit Public Schools, and the Detroit Library Commission.   

15. Petitioners also seek to amend their Complaint, (Exh. 6.1, the Phillips case Dkt. 

#1), to withdraw the plaintiffs Phillips, Valenti and AFSCME Council 25 as plaintiffs from the 

underlying action and to voluntarily dismiss, without prejudice, Count I  of the Complaint, which 

was asserted by the withdrawing plaintiffs.     

16. By this Motion, therefore, Petitioners herein seek relief from the Extension Order 

so that they may proceed in their action for declaratory and injunctive relief against Defendants 

(who are not officers, employees, agents or representatives of Debtor) as to the remaining counts 

and obtain relief from the ongoing violations of constitutional and statutory rights alleged therein. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

17. Petitioners’ pre-petition suit which is the subject of this Motion --  Catherine 

Phillips, et al. v. Richard Snyder and Andrew Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-11370 --  challenges the 

validity of PA 436 on a number of grounds, including the following Constitutional violations: the 

due-process right to elect officials who possess general legislative power (Exh. 6.1, Complaint, 
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Count II); the right to a republican form of government (Exh. 6.1, Complaint, Count III) ; the 

right to equal protection under the law with respect to race, wealth and voting rights (Exh. 6.1, 

Complaint, Counts IV, V and VI); the First Amendment as it pertains to freedom of speech (Exh. 

6.1, Complaint, Count VIII) and the right to petition the government for redress of grievances 

(Exh. 6.1, Complaint, Count IX); the Thirteenth Amendment as it pertains to the vestiges of 

slavery with regard to voting rights (Exh. 6.1, Complaint, Count XIII) ; and the right to equal 

protection under the law with respect to the procedure for removing appointed emergency 

managers (Exh. 6.1, Complaint, Count XI).  The Complaint also alleges violations of the Voting 

Rights Act of 1965.  

18. Petitioners’ suit does not seek money damages for these constitutional and 

statutory violations, but rather only declaratory relief finding violations of Petitioners’ rights as 

alleged in the Complaint and injunctive relief enjoining the defendants from committing further 

violations of those rights.  To the extent that the Complaint seeks attorney fees and costs as 

permitted by statute,42 U.S.C. §1988,  any such award would be paid by the State of Michigan, 

not Debtor City of Detroit, as neither the Debtor nor any of its agents is a party to the action. 

19. Debtor’s only connection to Petitioners’ action against the defendants in the 

Phillips case is that Debtor is currently under the control of an emergency manager appointed by 

the Phillips defendant Snyder pursuant to PA 436.  But Debtor is only one of many communities 

or entities subject to control by a state-appointed emergency manager.  Other communities and 

entities currently under EM control include the cities of Allen Park, Benton Harbor, Flint, 

Hamtramck, Pontiac, as well as Detroit Public Schools, Highland Park Public Schools, and 

Muskegon Heights Public Schools.  Additionally, the cities of Inkster and River Rouge are 

currently subject to consent agreements under PA 436, and the City of Ecorse is under the 

13-53846-swr    Doc 1004    Filed 09/23/13    Entered 09/23/13 17:35:17    Page 6 of 16



7 
 

control of a PA 436 transition advisory board.  

20. If not modified to permit the Phillips case to be adjudicated, the net effect of this 

Court’s Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) would be that not only Petitioners, but hundreds of 

thousands of other individuals throughout the State of Michigan, particularly in those 

communities identified above currently subject to PA 436, would be deprived of any avenue by 

which they can vindicate their constitutional and statutory rights at issue.  Instead, under the 

terms of the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) -- pertaining solely to the Debtor City of Detroit -- 

if not clarified or modified, Petitioners and all those within the other affected communities and 

entities will be forced to suffer ongoing violations of those rights while waiting for Debtor’s 

bankruptcy proceedings to conclude. 

21. By this Motion, Petitioners seek to clarify, lift or modify the Extended Stay Order 

(Dkt. 166) to the extent that it purports and/or has been interpreted to stay all litigation in which 

the Phillips defendants – Richard Snyder and Andrew Dillon – are named as parties, without 

regard to whether or not  “…any interests of the City of Detroit bankruptcy proceedings are 

implicated.” (Exh. 6.3, Steeh Order, p.2)   

22. Petitioners seek this relief so that Petitioners and Defendants may return to the 

District Court in order to permit an adjudication of the constitutional issues that have State-wide 

ramifications.   

23. Petitioners contend that Debtor never asked for or intended so broad a stay as was 

actually granted.  For that reason, the stay should not cover suits such as Petitioners’, which does 

not “directly or indirectly, seek to enforce claims against the City, interfere with the City’s 

activities in this Chapter 9 case or otherwise deny the City the protections of the Chapter 9 stay.” 

(Dkt.56,  Debtor’s Motion to Extend Stay, p. 13, ¶ 20)    
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24. Petitioners reemphasize that Debtor is not a party to its suit against the Phillips 

defendants, and that the defendants cannot be party to Debtor’s bankruptcy proceedings.  

Extension of the stay to include all State officials in all cases raises serious issues regarding the 

validity of the Chapter 9 proceedings, inasmuch as co-mingling the identities of Debtor and the 

State officials for purposes of the stay casts doubt on the ability of Debtor to satisfy the basic 

requirement that it be a “municipality” for the purposes of Chapter 9.  This is especially so 

because Congress intentionally deprived states of the ability to file petitions.  The State Entities 

should not be allowed the benefits of bankruptcy protections in clear violation of congressional 

intent that Chapter 9 relief is afforded only to municipalities.   

25. But even if this Court determines that it was proper to issue a stay broader than 

that requested by Debtor, Petitioners respectfully assert that under the circumstances present here, 

they satisfy the standard for lifting a stay under both: 1) a simple “balancing-of-the-equities” 

approach; and 2) a “preliminary-injunction” analysis. (See Exh. 3, Brief in Support of Motion, pp. 

8-14)  Specifically, Petitioners will show that the scope of the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) 

was overbroad under sections 105, 362, and 922 of the Bankruptcy Code; that the Extended Stay 

Order as applied to non-debtor defendants in other cases, i.e. the Phillips case, does not further 

the purposes of granting a stay under the Bankruptcy Code; and that where, as here, the pre-

petition litigation at issue involves the vindication of Constitutional rights, enforcement of the 

Constitution necessarily trumps such a stay.   

26. The facts and law outlined herein and in Petitioners’ Brief in Support (Exh. 3, 

Brief in Support) provide compelling support for Petitioners’ requested relief from the Extended 

Stay Order (Dkt. 166).     

JURISDICTION 

27. Jurisdiction over this motion is conferred upon this Court by 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 
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and 1334.  This motion is brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(G). 

28. Venue is proper in this Court, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409. 

29. The relief requested in this Motion is predicated upon 11 U.S.C. § 362(d) and 

Rules 4001-1 and 9014-1 of the United States Bankruptcy Court Eastern District of Michigan 

Local Rules.  

RELIEF REQUESTED 
Relief From the Extended Stay Order is Warranted Because the Debtor Never 

Sought a Stay Encompassing All Actions Against Defendants 

30. In its Motion to Extend Stay (Dkt. 56), Debtor specifically identified three 

lawsuits (which Debtor called the “Prepetition Lawsuits”) that it claimed violated the automatic-

stay protections of Chapter 9 as applied to Debtor by targeting State officials (the Governor, the 

State Treasurer, members of the Loan Board) to accomplish indirectly what it could no longer 

accomplish directly by suing Debtor. (Dkt. 56, pp. 5-8, ¶¶ 10-13; p. 13, ¶ 20; pp. 14-15, ¶¶ 22-23, 

including fn. 4) 

31. Debtor therefore requested that the Court issue a stay covering actions against 

Defendants that “directly or indirectly, seek to enforce claims against the City, interfere with the 

City’s activities in this Chapter 9 case or otherwise deny the City the protections of the Chapter 9 

stay,” (Dkt. 56, p. 13, ¶ 20) and furthermore, to expressly stay the three identified “Prepetition 

Lawsuits.” (Dkt. 56, pp. 14-15, ¶ 23) 

32. Despite the fact that the Phillips case has been pending since March, 27 2013 

(Exh. 6.1, Phillips Complaint), and the Petitioners’ claims were well known long before the 

filing of this bankruptcy action on July 18, 2013, the Debtor herein did not identify Petitioners’ 

suit as one of the “Prepetition Lawsuits” it wished the Court to expressly stay, nor does 

Petitioners’ suit fall within the scope of those contemplated by Debtor in Paragraph 20 of its 

motion. 
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33. Given the limiting language of Debtor’s Motion to Extend Stay (Dkt. 56), it 

cannot be said that Debtor intended that all suits naming the Governor or the State Treasurer as 

defendants should be stayed pending the resolution of Debtor’s bankruptcy proceedings and 

regardless of whether staying such suits would further the purposes of Chapter 9 protection as 

applied to Debtor.  Clearly such a request would be unsupportable. 

34. But the lack of such qualifying or limiting language in this Court’s Extended Stay 

Order (Dkt. 166) has precisely that effect, such that the District Court in Petitioners’ case 

indicated that it was bound by the language of the Extended Stay Order to stay Petitioners’ suit 

even though it found that “it is not apparent that any interests of the City of Detroit bankruptcy 

proceedings are implicated.” (Exh. 6.3, pp. 1-2) 

35. The broadly worded Extended Stay Order is thus constitutionally problematic, 

inasmuch as Petitioners -- who petition for redresses of grievances on behalf of all citizens of the 

State of Michigan against the governor and the State Treasurer, in matters wholly outside of 

Debtor’s bankruptcy proceedings -- are denied access to the courts.  This is particularly so where, 

as here, the grievances involve claims of constitutional violations, because bankruptcy courts do 

not have any final authority to decide constitutional issues. Farmer v. First Virginia Bank, 22 

B.R. 488 (E.D. Va. 1982).  Any final decision on constitutional issues must, under the U.S. 

Constitution, be decided by an Article III court.   

36. Without a modification of this Court’s Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166), therefore, 

Petitioners herein are deprived of a proper judicial review of their constitutional claims in an 

Article III court. 

37. Further constitutional problems are created by the manner in which the Extended 

Stay Order (Dkt. 166), as currently worded, extends full Chapter 9 protection to state officials, 
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directly contrary to the congressional intent that such protections are not available to the states. 

38. This Court can thus avoid this constitutional crisis by simply modifying its 

Extension Order to make clear that the stay only applies to claims, whether direct or indirect, 

against the res of the Debtor. 

Relief From the Extended Stay Order is Warranted Because the Scope of the 
Extended Stay Order is Overly BroadWithin the Limitations of the Bankruptcy Code 

 
39. The Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) purports to extend the “Chapter 9 stay” to 

cover “State Entities,” including Defendants.  Although the Extended Stay Order does not 

reference the statutory provisions that constitute a “Chapter 9 stay,” upon information and belief, 

this Court was characterizing the automatic-stay provisions at 11 U.S.C. §§ 362(a) and 922 as a 

“Chapter 9 stay.” 

40. By its own terms, §362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §362(a), 

automatically stays actions against the debtor or the debtor’s property. 

41. Similarly, §922 of the Code, 11 U.S.C. §922, automatically stays any action 

against an officer or inhabitant of the debtor to the extent that such action ultimately seeks to 

enforce a claim against the debtor. 

42. Neither section provides a basis for staying claims against non-debtors wholly 

unconnected to the debtor. 

43. To the extent that §105 of the Code, 11 U.S.C. §105 grants a bankruptcy court 

some latitude in crafting orders, including expanding the scope or duration of automatic-stay 

orders, such latitude is not without limits.  In cases involving using section 105 to expand the 

scope of automatic-stay orders to non-debtors, some close nexus of identity must exist between 

the non-debtor and debtor (such as an agreement to indemnify) that would render an action 

against the non-debtor a de facto action against the debtor or its property.   
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44. With respect to Petitioners’ District Court action, no such nexus exists or could 

possibly exist as between Defendants and the Debtor.  Therefore, the Extension Order should be 

lifted as applied to the Defendants in this case. 

Relief From the Extended Stay Order is Warranted Because the Extended Stay 
Order Fails to Further the Purposes For Which Stays are Provided in Bankruptcy Cases 

 
45. It is well settled that the primary purposes for staying litigation against a debtor 

are: a) to protect all creditors by preventing financial assets or property of the debtor from being 

diverted to an individual creditor; and, b) to protect the debtor by preventing additional financial 

obligations from being imposed upon the debtor as it attempts to marshal assets and inventory 

obligations for the purpose of crafting a reorganization plan.   

46. Moreover, such stays have the effect of preventing the debtor’s limited assets 

from being further depleted through the expense of defending numerous suits. [While the above 

purposes are laudable, they are not furthered by staying Petitioners’ action for declaratory and 

injunctive relief against the underlying non-debtor defendants in the Phillips case.  Petitioners’ 

action is not against Debtor’s assets and does not involve any property of the Debtor.  Debtor is 

not a party to Petitioners’ action and therefore will not incur any expense defending against it.  

Lifting the stay, thereby permitting Petitioners to resume the prosecution of their claims against 

the Phillips defendants, will not interfere with the progression of Debtor’s bankruptcy case.  

Thus, no harm will be suffered by Debtor if the stay is lifted as to this federal Constitutional 

litigation. 

47. On the other hand, the injuries alleged by Petitioners are constitutional in nature 

and as such, constitute irreparable harm for the duration that they are permitted to continue.  See, 

Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson, 475 U.S. 292, 106 S.Ct. 1066, 89 L.Ed.2d 232 (1986); Doe 

v. Duncanville Independent School District, 994 F.2d 160 (5th Cir. 1993).   Moreover, the scale 
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of the constitutional violations, when extrapolated across all of the individuals who reside within 

the affected communities and school districts throughout the entire State of Michigan, is simply 

staggering.   

48. Under any of the frameworks used to analyze lift-stay motions, equity requires 

lifting the stay with respect to the adjudication of the Phillips case.  Were it otherwise, the 

constitutional rights of citizens throughout the State -- in communities such as Allen Park, 

Benton Harbor, Ecorse, Flint, Hamtramck, Highland Park, Inkster, Muskegon Heights, Pontiac 

and River Rouge – will continue to be held hostage to the Debtor City of Detroit’s progression 

through bankruptcy despite the lack of any connection between those communities and the 

Debtor.  Not only is such a result absurd on its face, but it is unconstitutional and contrary to 

public policy, particularly where such an order sets the precedent that the constitutionality of PA 

436 may never be challenged so long as some community or entity subject to the Act is in the 

midst of bankruptcy proceedings. 

49. Because the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166), as applied to Petitioners’ claims in 

the Phillips case, fails to further the purposes of the automatic stay in these Chapter 9 bankruptcy 

proceedings as to the Debtor and simultaneously works an irreparable harm upon the Petitioners, 

the Order (Dkt. 166) should be lifted as to the claims against the underlying defendants in the 

Phillips case. 

Relief From the Extended Stay Order is Warranted Because Where the Petitioners 
Allege Constitutional Violations, Enforcement of the Constitution Must Take 

Precedence Over Staying Litigation Against the Non-Debtor Defendants 

50. Petitioners’ Complaint alleges numerous constitutional violations made actionable 

against the underlying defendants, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, in the Phillips case. 

51. Section 5 of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 guarantees persons the right to enforce the U.S. 

Constitution against those who act under color of law to deprive or cause a person to be deprived 
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of rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution. 

52. Section 3 of 28 U.S.C. § 1343 guarantees a person the right to have a federal 

district court and a jury of one’s peers adjudicate claims brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

53. Congress has clearly demonstrated its intent that 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides the 

judicial remedy when a person has suffered a violation of constitutional rights. Likewise, the 

Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that the enforcement of federal rights is of the highest 

priority. 

54. In this case, the application of this Court’s Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) to 

include all claims against the non-debtor defendants Snyder and Dillon -- regardless of the 

absence of any relationship to the property rights of Debtor herein or to this bankruptcy 

proceeding -- contravenes the very purpose and intent of Congress and the Supreme Court.  

Moreover, by delaying the proceedings in the underlying Phillips district court action 

indefinitely, the Extended Stay Order has worked a further constitutional injury to Petitioners, 

inasmuch as it has operated to deprive Petitioners—without any process—of the right to have 

their claims of constitutional violations adjudicated by the district court and a jury of their peers. 

55. To whatever extent the Bankruptcy Code in general, and Chapter 9 in particular, 

could be read to permit the expansion of the automatic-stay provisions to include any and all 

actions against non-debtors even where, as here, the particular claims against those non-debtors 

have no relevant connection to the Debtor, such a construction is overbroad and conflicts with 42 

U.S.C. § 1983.  In such a case, as here, this Honorable Court should construe the Bankruptcy 

Code narrowly to avoid a constitutional problem or alternatively, lift the stay which avoids the 

constitutional conflict altogether. 

56. As required by L.B.R. 9014-1(g), Petitioners have sought concurrence in this 
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Motion from counsel for the Debtor on September 23, 2013, and concurrence was not obtained. 

CONCLUSION 

 WHEREFORE, Petitioners respectfully request that the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) 

be clarified, modified, or lifted with respect to Petitioners’ claims against the underlying 

defendants in the Phillips case, so that: 1) the constitutionality of Public Act 436 may be 

properly adjudicated pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 by an Article III United States District Court; 

and 2) Petitioners may amend their Complaint to provide for the voluntary withdrawal of 

individual plaintiffs Phillips, Valenti, and AFSCME Council 25 and the voluntary dismissal of 

Count I of their Complaint, without bearing on the Debtor’s rights in this bankruptcy proceeding.   

 

Dated: September 23, 2013   Respectfully Submitted,  

By:__/s/William H. Goodman_________________ 
William H. Goodman (P14173) 
Julie H. Hurwitz (P34720) 
GOODMAN & HURWITZ PC on behalf of the 
DETROIT & MICHIGAN NATIONAL 
LAWYERS GUILD 
1394 E. Jefferson Ave. 
Detroit, Michigan 48207 
(313) 567-6170/Fax: (313) 567-4827 
bgoodman@goodmanhurwitz.com 
Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips, et al. 
 

     -and- 
John C. Philo (P52721) 
Anthony D. Paris (P71525) 
SUGAR LAW CENTER 
FOR ECONOMIC & SOCIAL JUSTICE 
4605 Cass Ave., 2nd Floor 
Detroit, Michigan 48201 
(313) 993-4505/Fax: (313) 887-8470 
jphilo@sugarlaw.org 
tparis@sugarlaw.org 
Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips et al. 
 
 

Herbert A. Sanders (P43031) 
THE SANDERS LAW FIRM PC 
615 Griswold St. Ste. 913 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
(313) 962-0099/Fax: (313) 962-0044 
haslawpc@gmail.com 
Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips et al. 
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SUMMARY OF ATTACHED EXHIBITS 

The following documents are attached to this Motion, labeled in accordance with Local Rule 
9014-1(b). 
 
 
Exhibit 1  Proposed Form of Order 

Exhibit 2  Notice of Motion and Opportunity to Object 

Exhibit 3  Brief in Support of  Motion For Relief From Order Pursuant To Section 105(A) 
Of The Bankruptcy Code Extending The Chapter 9 Stay To Certain  (A) State 
Entities, (B) Non Officer Employees And (C) Agents And Representatives Of The 
Debtor  

Exhibit 4  Certificate of Service 

Exhibit 5  None [No Affidavits Filed Specific to This Motion] 

Exhibit 6.1  Complaint filed in Catherine Phillips, et al.  v. Richard Snyder and Andrew 
Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-11370 

 
Exhibit 6.2  Notice of Pendency of Bankruptcy Case and Application of the Automatic Stay in 

Catherine Phillips, et al.  v. Richard Snyder and Andrew Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-
11370  

 
Exhibit 6.3  Order Regarding Notice of Pendency of Bankruptcy Case and Application of the 

Automatic Stay, in Catherine Phillips, et al.  v. Richard Snyder and Andrew 
Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-11370  
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EXHIBIT 1 
PROPOSED FORM OF ORDER 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 

 
In re:         Chapter 9 
 
CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN,    Case No. 13-53846 
 
 Debtor.      Hon. Steven W. Rhodes 
 
________________________________________/ 
 

ORDER GRANTING THE PETITIONERS’  
MOTION TO MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM ORDER  

PURSUANT TO SECTION 105(A) OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE EXTENDING THE 
CHAPTER 9 STAY TO CERTAIN (A) STATE ENTITIES, (B) NON 

OFFICER EMPLOYEES AND (C) AGENTS AND REPRESENTATIVES OF THE 
DEBTOR 

 
This matter coming before the Court on the Petitioners Catherine Phillips, et al.’s Motion 

For Relief From Order Pursuant To Section 105(A) Of The Bankruptcy Code Extending The 

Chapter 9 Stay To Certain (A) State Entities, (B) Non Officer Employees And (C) Agents And 

Representatives Of The Debtor and the Court having determined that the legal and factual bases 

set forth in the motion establish just cause for the relief granted herein; 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

1. The Petitioners’ motion is GRANTED; and  

2. The Automatic Stay of 11 USC § 362 and the Order Pursuant To Section 105(A) 

Of The Bankruptcy Code Extending The Chapter 9 Stay To Certain (A) State Entities, (B) Non 

Officer Employees And (C) Agents And Representatives Of The Debtor (Dkt. 166) entered by this 

Court on July 25, 2013 are found, in their entirety, not to apply to the case of Catherine Phillips, 

et al. v. Snyder and Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-11370, before the U.S. District Court, Eastern 

District of Michigan, and all stays are otherwise lifted to permit that case to fully proceed 
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without impediment before the U.S. District Court to an adjudication on the merits and to permit 

the parties to proceed with any concomitant appeals; and  

3. As a result of this Order, Petitioners are permitted to also amend their Complaint 

in the case of Catherine Phillips, et al. v. Snyder and Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-11370 to 

voluntarily withdraw individual Plaintiffs Phillips, Valenti, and AFSCME Council 25 as 

Plaintiffs in that case and to voluntary dismiss, all without prejudice, Count I of their Complaint 

in that case.  

 

Dated:______________________ ______________________________________________ 
     Honorable Steven W. Rhodes 
     United States Bankruptcy Judge     
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Notice of Motion and Opportunity to Object 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 

 
In re:         Chapter 9 
 
CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN,    Case No. 13-53846 
 
 Debtor.      Hon. Steven W. Rhodes 
 
________________________________________/ 

 
NOTICE UNDER LBR 9014-1 OF MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM THE 

AUTOMATIC STAY & OPPORTUNITY TO OBJECT 
 
 Petitioners Catherine Phillips, etc. al. have filed papers with the court to clarify 
order and/or lift stay relating to the case of Catherine Phillips, et al.  v. Richard Snyder 
and Andrew Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-11370 pending before the U.S. District Court, 
Eastern District of Michigan.                                                                                
        
 Your rights may be affected.  You should read these papers carefully and 
discuss them with your attorney, if you have one in this bankruptcy case.  (If you do 
not have an attorney, you may wish to consult one.) 
 
 If you do not want the court to to clarify order and/or lift stay relating to the case 
of Catherine Phillips, et al.  v. Richard Snyder and Andrew Dillon, Case No. 13-CV-
11370 pending before the U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Michigan, or if you 
want the court to consider your views on the Motion, within fourteen (14) days, you or 
your attorney must: 
 

1. File with the court a written response or an answer, explaining your 
position at:1 

 
United States Bankruptcy Court 
211 West Fort Detroit, MI 48226 

 
  If you mail your response to the court for filing, you must mail it early 

enough so the court will receive it on or before the date stated above.  All 
attorneys are required to file pleadings electronically. 

 
   
 
 

                                                           
     1  Response or answer must comply with F. R. Civ. P. 8(b), (c) and (e) 
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You must also mail a copy to: 
 
   William H. Goodman  

Goodman & Hurwitz, P.C. 
1394 E Jefferson Ave  
Detroit, MI  48207 

  
2.  If a response or answer is timely filed and served, the clerk will schedule a 

hearing on the motion and you will be served with a notice of the date, 
time and location of the hearing. 

  
 If you or your attorney do not take these steps, the court may decide that you 
do not oppose the relief sought in the motion or objection and may enter an order 
granting that relief. 
 
 
Dated:  September 23, 2013  By:   /s/William H. Goodman 
     William H. Goodman (P14173) 

GOODMAN & HURWITZ, P.C., on behalf of the 
DETROIT & MICHIGAN NATIONAL 
LAWYERS GUILD 
1394 E. Jefferson Ave. 
Detroit, Michigan 48207 
(313) 567-6170/Fax: (313) 567-4827 
bgoodman@goodmanhurwitz.com 

     Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips, et al. 
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EXHIBIT 3 
Brief in Support of  Motion For Relief From Order Pursuant To 

Section 105(A) Of The Bankruptcy Code Extending The Chapter 9 
Stay To Certain  (A) State Entities, (B) Non Officer Employees And 

(C) Agents And Representatives Of The Debtor 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 

 
In re:         Chapter 9 
 
CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN,    Case No. 13-53846 
 
  Debtor.     Hon. Steven W. Rhodes 
_________________________________/ 
 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF CATHERINE PHILLIPS, et al.’S MOTION FOR RELIEF 
FROM ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 105(a) OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE 

EXTENDING THE CHAPTER 9 STAY TO CERTAIN (A) STATE ENTITIES, 
(B) NON OFFICER EMPLOYEES AND (C) AGENTS AND 

REPRESENTATIVES OF THE DEBTOR  
 

On March 27, 2013, Petitioners Catherine Phillips, et al. (hereafter “Petitioners”) filed a 

civil rights action in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan, 

challenging the validity of PA 436 on federal statutory and constitutional grounds, pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. §1983. See, Catherine Phillips, et al.  v. Richard Snyder and Andrew Dillon, Case No. 

13-CV-11370, (Exh. 6.1, Phillips Complaint), (hereafter, the “Phillips case”).   Governor 

Richard D. Snyder and State Treasurer Andrew Dillon are the only named defendants in the suit, 

while Petitioners represent a cross-section of citizens from communities across the State of 

Michigan that are directly affected by the enactment of PA 436.  On July 18, 2013, the Debtor 

filed for Chapter 9 bankruptcy.  At that time, all litigation against the Debtor or its property was 

automatically stayed pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 362(a) and 922.  One week later, on July 25, 2013, 

upon Debtor’s motion, (Dkt. 56, Motion of Debtor For Entry of Order Extending the Chapter 9 

Stay to Certain (A) State Entities, (B) Non-Officer Employees and (C) Agents and 

Representatives of the Debtor, (hereafter “Motion to Extend Stay”),  this Court entered an Order 

Pursuant to Section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code Extending the Chapter 9 Stay to Certain (A) 

State Entities, (B) Non Officer Employees and (C) Agents and Representatives of the Debtor (Dkt. 
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166), (hereafter “Extended Stay Order”).   

Among those “State Entities” were the two named defendants in the Phillips case, 

Governor Snyder and Treasurer Dillon.  At issue in Petitioners’ Motion herein is this Court’s 

decision to stay all pre-petition litigation against these defendants, despite the fact that they are 

not officers, employees, agents, or representatives of the Debtor, and in no way otherwise share 

some close nexus or special relationship with the Debtor such that a suit against the Defendants 

would be, in effect, an action against the Debtor. Nor are the substantive issues within the 

Phillips case related in any way to the instant bankruptcy proceeding, to the enforcement of 

claims against Debtor, or to and of Debtor’s activities in this Chapter 9 case. Petitioners seek a 

lift of the stay as to the Phillips case on several grounds: (1) that Debtor never asked for or 

intended that the stay order would be so broadly worded; (2) that the inclusion of the non-debtor 

defendants from the Phillips case in the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) exceeds the permissible 

scope of such a stay under 11 U.S.C. §§ 105(a), 362(a), and 922;  (3) that even if the Bankruptcy 

Code permitted the extension of automatic stays to non-debtor third parties with no connection to 

the Debtor, the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) fails to further the purposes for which such stays 

are provided; and (4), of utmost importance, where the Petitioners allege ongoing constitutional 

violations, enforcement of the Constitution cannot be subjugated by the bankruptcy process. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

When a bankruptcy petition is filed, most judicial actions against the debtor that were 

commenced before the filing of the petition are automatically stayed during the pendency of the 

bankruptcy petition.  11 U.S.C. § 362(a)(1).  However, this automatic stay provision was not 

intended to immutably relegate creditors to a world of limbo or to the resolution of the civil 

claims within the limitations of a bankruptcy proceeding.  Instead, as Congress recognized when 

enacting the automatic stay provision: 
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[I]t will often be more appropriate to permit proceedings to continue in their 
place of origin, when no great prejudice to the bankruptcy estate would result, 
in order to leave the parties to their chosen forum and to relieve the bankruptcy 
court from many duties that may be handled elsewhere. 

 
S. Rep. No. 989, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 50, reprinted in 1978 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News 

5780, 5836. 

Recognizing that some actions are better suited to resolution outside the bankruptcy 

forum, Congress specifically granted—in the same provision establishing the automatic stay—

full discretion to the bankruptcy court to lift the stay and allow litigation to go forward in another 

forum.  Section 362(d) of the Bankruptcy Code provides: 

On request of a party in interest and after notice and a hearing, the court shall 
grant relief from the stay provided under [§ 362(a)], such as by terminating, 
annulling, modifying, or conditioning such stay—(1) for cause, including the 
lack of adequate protection of an interest in property of such party in 
interest . . . . 

 
11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(1) (emphasis added). 

To determine whether sufficient cause exists to grant relief from the stay in a non-

bankruptcy forum, the bankruptcy court must scrutinize the factual circumstances of the case 

before it.  Christensen v. Tucson Estates, Inc. (In re Tucson Estates, Inc.), 912 F.2d 1162, 1166 

(9th Cir. 1990); Pursifull v. Eakin, 814 F.2d 1501, 1506 (10th Cir. 1987); Sumitomo Trust & 

Banking Co., Ltd. v. Holly's, Inc. (In re Holly's, Inc.), 140 B.R. 643, 687 (Bankr. W.D. Mich. 

1992).  Among other factors, the Court should consider whether modifying the stay will promote 

judicial economy.  See, e.g., Robbins, 964 F.2d at 344; In re MacDonald, 755 F.2d 715, 717 (9th 

Cir. 1985); see also 2 Collier on Bankruptcy ¶ 362.07[3] (15th ed. 1991) (noting that relief may 

be granted from the automatic stay where “the liquidation of a claim may be more conveniently 

and speedily determined in another forum”).  Another particularly compelling consideration is 

whether the bankruptcy petition was filed by the debtor “on the eve of the resolution of pending 
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prepetition litigation.”  In re Wilson, 85 B.R. 722, 728 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1988) (citing Matter of 

Holtkamp, 669 F.2d 505, 509 (7th Cir. 1982)); see also, In re Castlerock Props., 781 F.2d 159, 

163 (9th Cir. 1986); In re Olmstead, 608 F.2d 1365, 1368 (10th Cir. 1979); In re Borbridge, 81 

B.R. 332, 335 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1988); In re Philadelphia Athletic Club, 9 B.R. 280, 282 (Bankr. 

E.D. Pa. 1981).   

In the most recent large-scale municipal bankruptcy, the question of “cause” to lift a stay 

was framed thusly: 

To determine whether "cause" exists to lift the stay and allow a suit to proceed in 
a non-bankruptcy forum, a court typically analyzes whether (1) any great 
prejudice to either the bankrupt estate or the debtor will result from continuation 
of a civil suit, (2) the hardship to the non-bankrupt party by maintenance of 
the stay considerably outweighs the hardship to the debtor, and (3) the creditor 
has a probability of prevailing on the merits of its lawsuit. Chizzali v. Gindi (In re 
Gindi), 642 F.3d 865, 872 (10th Cir. 2011), overruled on other grounds by TW 
Telecom Holdings Inc. v. Carolina Internet Ltd., 661 F.3d 495 (10th Cir. 2011) 
(emphasis added); Caves, 309 B.R. at 80; In re Pro Football Weekly, Inc., 60 B.R. 
824, 826 (N.D.Ill.1986). 

 
In re Jefferson County, 484 B.R. 427, 465-466 (Bankr. N.D. Ala. 2012). 
 

ARGUMENT 

I. DEBTOR NEVER INTENDED OR ASKED FOR A STAY ORDER THAT 
WOULD ENCOMPASS ALL ACTIONS AGAINST THE “STATE ENTITIES,” 
WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE NATURE OF THE ACTION. 

 
The simplest solution to correct the overbreadth of the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166)  is 

to recognize that Debtor never sought so broad a stay order as that which ultimately issued from 

this Court; that it was never intended that the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) should apply to 

actions such as Petitioners’ Phillips case, which do not implicate any of the Debtors’ interests 

that are protected by Chapter 9; and that the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) does not and should 

not, in fact, apply to Petitioners’ case. 

Such a conclusion is not only supported by the plain language of the Bankruptcy Code 
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and its underlying intent, but also by the language of Debtor’s own motion seeking extension of 

the Chapter 9 stay.  Debtor did not ask that all actions against the non-debtor Defendants be 

stayed, but rather only those actions “that, directly or indirectly, seek to enforce claims against 

the City, interfere with the City’s activities in this Chapter 9 case or otherwise deny the City the 

protections of the Chapter 9 stay.”  Absent such limiting language, Debtor’s motion would 

rightly have been attacked as seeking relief that was massively overbroad and, in many instances, 

not even remotely related to the purposes for which Chapter 9 protections exist. 

Unfortunately, the absence of such language in the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) has 

created precisely such an impermissibly broad-ranging stay.  In its current form and breadth, the 

Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) provides that “the Chapter 9 stay hereby is extended to apply in 

all respects (to the extent not otherwise applicable) to the State Entities.”  (Dkt. 166, Extended 

Stay Order, at p. 2)  Without the modification or clarification sought by Petitioners herein, the 

Extended Stay Order therefore not only fails to limit its application in the way requested by 

Debtor, but instead encourages the broadest possible reading, as evidenced by the words of 

United States District Court, Honorable George Steeh in his Order Regarding Notice of 

Pendency of Bankruptcy Case and Application of the Automatic Stay, (Exh. 6.3, Phillips case, 

Dkt. #30) (hereafter “Steeh Order”), staying Petitioners’ declaratory/injunctive relief civil rights 

action that is the subject of this Motion:  

Although it is not apparent that any interests of the City of Detroit bankruptcy 
proceedings are implicated in the case, the plain language of the stay order would 
apply to this lawsuit. 

In accordance with the broadly worded Extension Order issued by the bankruptcy 
court, this court will abide by the stay unless and until such time as an order issues 
lifting or modifying the stay to permit the captioned matter to proceed. 

(Exh. 6.3, Phillips case, Dkt. #30, Steeh Order) (emphasis added). 

This was not the relief sought by Debtor in its Motion to Extend Stay (Dkt. 56), and it was 
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not the relief that should have been granted.  Clarifying the Extended Stay Order to make clear 

that it only applies to actions against the res of the Debtor, or even adopting verbatim the 

language proposed by the Debtor in its Motion to Extend Stay (Dkt. 56), would permit actions 

against non-Debtor “State Entities”  to continue in courts across the State where such actions do 

not defeat or frustrate the purposes of Debtor’s bankruptcy proceedings.  

II. THE RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE DO NOT 
AUTHORIZE EXTENDING THE AUTOMATIC STAY OF PREPETITION 
LITIGATION TO ALL ACTIONS AGAINST THE NON-DEBTOR STATE 
ENTITIES SNYDER AND DILLON. 

 
The relevant provisions of the Bankruptcy Code providing for automatic stays of 

litigation in Chapter 9 bankruptcy are 11 U.S.C. §§ 362(a) and 922.  Section 362(a) provides in 

pertinent part: 

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, a petition filed under 
section 301,302, or 303 of this title, or an application filed under section 
5(a)(3) of the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970, operates as a stay, 
applicable to all entities, of— 

(1) the commencement or continuation, including the issuance or 
employment of process, of a judicial, administrative, or other 
action or proceeding against the debtor that was or could have 
been commenced before the commencement of the case under this 
title, or to recover a claim against the debtor that arose before the 
commencement of the case under this title; 

(2) the enforcement, against the debtor or against property of the 
estate, of a judgment obtained before the commencement of the 
case under this title; 

(3) any act to obtain possession of property of the estate or of 
property from the estate or to exercise control over property of the 
estate; 
(4) any act to create, perfect, or enforce any lien against property 
of the estate; 

(5) any act to create, perfect, or enforce against property of the 
debtor any lien to the extent that such lien secures a claim that 
arose before the commencement of the case under this title; 

(6) any act to collect, assess, or recover a claim against the debtor 
that arose before the commencement of the case under this title; 
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(7) the setoff of any debt owing to the debtor that arose before the 
commencement of the case under this title against any claim 
against the debtor; … 

11 U.S.C. § 362(a) (emphases added).  Thus on its face, § 362(a) is concerned with preventing 

the initiation or continuation of any litigation against the debtor or the bankruptcy estate and 

therefore expressly authorizes staying litigation of claims against the debtor or the estate.   

Section 922 makes several other provisions for automatic stays in the Chapter 9 context: 

(a) A petition filed under this chapter operates as a stay, in addition to the stay 
provided by section 362 of this title, applicable to all entities, of— 

(1) the commencement or continuation, including the issuance or 
employment of process, of a judicial, administrative, or other 
action or proceeding against an officer or inhabitant of the debtor 
that seeks to enforce a claim against the debtor; and 

(2) the enforcement of a lien on or arising out of taxes or 
assessments owed to the debtor. 

 
11 U.S.C. § 922(a) (emphases added). On its face, §922 is thus also concerned with 

preventing the initiation or continuation of any litigation against the debtor.  Indeed, § 922 seeks 

to protect the municipal debtor from both direct and indirect actions against the debtor, where a 

creditor might sue the officers or inhabitants of a municipality in order to reach the assets of the 

debtor. In re City of Stockton, 484 B.R. 372, 378-379 (Bankr. E.D. Cal. 2012). 

 But there is nothing in the Code that provides for staying actions against non-debtor third 

parties such as the State defendants in the Phillips case.  Indeed, with respect to §362(a), the 

Sixth Circuit has noted that “said provision facially stays proceedings ‘against the debtor’ and 

fails to intimate, even tangentially, that the stay could be interpreted as including any defendant 

other than the debtor.” Lynch v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 710 F.2d 1194, 1196 (6th Cir. 

1983).  In Lynch court further found:   

It is universally acknowledged that an automatic stay of proceeding accorded by § 
362 may not be invoked by entities such as sureties, guarantors, co-obligors, or 
others with a similar legal or factual nexus to the . . . debtor…The legislative 
history of §362 discloses a congressional intent to stay proceedings against the 
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debtor, and no other.   
Id. 

 Even in cases where a broader construction to the automatic-stay provisions of §362 have 

been applied, the extension of a stay to non-debtor third parties typically only occurs when they 

are co-defendants of the debtor, and even then, only in the most unusual circumstances: 

[S]omething more than the mere fact that one of the parties to the lawsuit has filed 
a Chapter 11 bankruptcy must be shown in order that proceedings be stayed 
against non-bankrupt parties. This "unusual situation," it would seem, arises when 
there is such identity between the debtor and the third-party defendant that the 
debtor may be said to be the real party defendant and that a judgment against the 
third-party defendant will in effect be a judgment or finding against the debtor. 
An illustration of such a situation would be a suit against a third-party who is 
entitled to absolute indemnity by the debtor on account of any judgment that 
might result against them in the case. 
 

A.H. Robins Co. v. Piccinin, 788 F.2d 994, 999 (4th Cir. 1986) 

 Such unusual circumstances are not present here.  Petitioners have not sued Debtor; thus, 

the underlying defendants in the Phillips case -- Snyder and Dillon -- are not co-defendants with 

Debtor.  Nor is there “such identity” between the Phillips defendants and Debtor that Debtor 

would be the real party defendant in the Phillips case.  Likewise, the Phillips defendants are not 

officers or inhabitants of Debtor, and Petitioners’ suit does not seek to enforce any claim against 

Debtor, rending § 922 inapplicable.  As such, authority for inclusion of the Phillips case under 

the scope of the Extended Stay Order cannot be found in either §§362(a) or 922(a) of the 

Bankruptcy Code. 

Nor can such authority be found in § 105(a).  While it is true that a bankruptcy court is 

granted additional powers to issue orders that are “necessary or appropriate to carry out the 

provisions of this title,” pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 105(a), such powers are not without limits. As 

recognized in GAF Corp. v. Johns-Manville Corp. (In re Johns-Manville Corp.), 26 B.R. 405 

(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1983), any extension of a stay made pursuant to § 105 must be carefully 
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circumscribed to ensure that such an extension is only used to protect the debtor. 

The GAF Corp. plaintiffs were manufacturers that were named as co-defendants, along 

with Johns-Manville, in asbestos litigation.  When Johns-Manville initiated bankruptcy 

proceedings, all actions against it were automatically stayed pursuant to §362(a).  The GAF 

Corp. plaintiffs moved for an extension of the stay, pursuant to § 105(a), to include all of Johns-

Manville's co-defendants in the asbestos litigation.  The court rejected this invitation: 

Although Section 105 may be used to extend the stay, Section 105 does not have a 
life of its own and this extension may only be accomplished within the proper 
boundaries of Section 362. That is, unless this extension is designed to protect the 
debtor's interests, it cannot be granted. 
 

*  *  * 
 
Section 105 of the Code was not intended to grant the bankruptcy court powers 
without bounds, In re Brada Miller Freight Systems, Inc., 16 Bankr. 1002, 6 
C.B.C. 2d 375, 389 (N.D. Ala. 1981), and the court's equitable powers thereunder 
are not unrestricted. In re Dunckle Associates, Inc., 19 Bankr. 481, 6 C.B.C. 2d 
600, 605 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1982). See also 2 Collier on Bankruptcy para. 105.02 at 
105-7 (15th ed. 1982). See also In re Chanticleer Associates, Ltd., 592 F.2d 70 
(2d Cir. 1979). 
 
The crux of the matter before this Court is whether the injunctive relief sought by 
the co-defendants under Section 105(a) is "necessary or appropriate" in order to 
achieve the goals of a Chapter 11 reorganization. 
 

GAF Corp. v. Johns-Manville Corp. (In re Johns-Manville Corp.), at 414-415. 

The court found that the asbestos litigation plaintiffs would suffer significantly greater 

harm if the stay was expanded to include the co-defendants than the co-defendants would suffer 

if the stay was denied, even though the remedy sought by the asbestos plaintiffs was limited to 

money damages (which meant that such plaintiffs’ injuries, however grave, did not constitute 

“irreparable harm,” under a preliminary-injunction standard because an adequate remedy existed 

at law to compensate the plaintiffs or their survivors): 

The asbestos victims will certainly suffer by the total frustration of their 
opportunity for a day in court. As Chief Judge Peckham stated in the context of 
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asbestos litigation: 
 

Such delay is not costless to these plaintiffs, many of whom are 
suffering financial hardships and who seek damages to redress 
their injuries and some of whom are dying and whose testimony 
must be perpetuated. The defendants may be inconvenienced by 
expeditious resumption of the actions against them. However, 
under Landis, the balance of hardship weighs in favor of the 
injured plaintiffs. 

 
In re Related Asbestos Cases, 23 B.R. 523, 531-2 (N.D. Cal. 1982) (citing Landis 
v North American Company, 299 U.S. 248, 81 L. Ed. 153, 57 S. Ct. 163 
(1936)). Accord, Evans v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., C.A. No. 80-2939, slip op. 
at 4-6 (D.N.J., October 5, 1982). 
 
To the same effect, see In re Massachusettes Asbestos Cases,M.B.L. Nos. 1 & 2 
(D. Mass. Sept. 28, 1982), in which the court denied a stay against third parties 
who were co-defendants of a debtor, stating: 
 

The suppliant for a stay must make out a clear case of hardship or 
inequity in being required to go forward, if there is even a fair 
possibility that the stay for which he prays will work damage to 
someone else . . . . 
 
Here, it is not a question of a fair possibility. It is certainty that any 
delay in the continuing efforts to bring these cases to trial will 
result in continued and increased hardship to the plaintiffs. This is 
not to ignore the problems of the defendants, but the loss to the 
plaintiffs far outweighs any possible gain procedural or practical 
that would inure to them. 

 
Slip Op. at 3. 
 

GAF Corp. v. Johns-Manville Corp. (In re Johns-Manville Corp.), at 417. 

 Unlike the asbestos-litigation plaintiffs, for whom there existed an adequate (if imperfect) 

remedy at law in the form of money damages, the Petitioners in the instant case are suffering 

irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law as long as the violations of their 

constitutional rights continue. Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson, 475 U.S. 292, 106 S.Ct. 1066, 

89 L.Ed.2d 232 (1986); Doe v. Duncanville Independent School District, 994 F.2d 160 (5th Cir. 

1993).  As such, the equities tilt overwhelmingly against using § 105 to extend the stay to the 
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non-debtor defendants in the Phillips case. 

 Some courts have found that a bankruptcy court lacks the power under § 105 to issue a 

stay against a non-debtor party, In re American Hardwoods, Inc., 885 F.2d 621, (9th Cir. 1989), 

while others have cautiously allowed such stays where the equities clearly favor them: 

Judicial discretion is not unlimited but is to be carefully honed in light of the facts 
of the case, applicable precedent and appropriate policy. Fry v. Porter, 1 Mod. 
[1607] 300, 307. The issuance of a stay by any court of equity requires a showing 
of serious, if not irreparable, injury and a tipping of the balance of the equities in 
favor of the party seeking the stay. Landis v. North American Co., 299 U.S. 248, 
254-55, 81 L. Ed. 153, 57 S. Ct. 163 (1936); Commodity Futures Trading 
Commission v. Chilcott Portfolio Mgt. Inc., 713 F.2d 1477 (10th Cir. 1983). 

 
Lesser v. A-Z Assocs. (In re Lion Capital Group), 44 B.R. 690, 701 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1984) 
 
 In the case at bar, the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) is overbroad as applied to the 

Phillips case because there is simply no reason to believe that Debtor would suffer any 

substantial harm, let alone irreparable injury, if Petitioners’ injunctive action against the 

underlying defendants was permitted to continue.  The District Court recognized as much when 

it noted that “it is not apparent that any interests of the City of Detroit bankruptcy proceedings 

are implicated” in Petitioners’ action, but concluded that it nevertheless was bound by the terms 

of the “broadly worded Extension Order issued by the bankruptcy court,” and was therefore 

required to stay the case “unless and until such time as an order issues lifting or modifying the 

stay to permit the captioned matter to proceed.” (Exh. 6.3, Steeh Order, Phillips case) 

Where, as here, Snyder and Dillon, as defendants in the Phillips case, are third parties to 

Debtor’s bankruptcy proceedings and there is no close nexus of identity between them and 

Debtor that would otherwise justify staying litigation against the Phillips defendants, the 

Bankruptcy Code does not authorize staying Petitioners’ action.  For that reason, the stay as to 

the Phillips case should be lifted. 

III. STAYING PETITIONERS’ ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS DOES NOT 
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FURTHER THE PURPOSES OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE. 
 
Even assuming that the Bankruptcy Code could be read as permitting the extension of 

automatic-stay orders to non-debtor third parties in narrow circumstances (i.e., where an action 

against a non-debtor is really designed to reach the assets of the debtor/estate), such is not the 

case here.  And in any event, when the circumstances surrounding Petitioners’ litigation against 

the defendants Snyder and Dillon are viewed in their totality, it becomes clear that staying this 

particular litigation is not “necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions” of the Code, as 

required by § 105. 

There can be no doubt that the stay provisions of the Code are primarily intended to 

provide protection to the parties to a bankruptcy proceeding: the debtor and the creditors, as best 

explained in the legislative history of the Code: 

The automatic stay is one of the fundamental debtor protections provided by the 
bankruptcy laws. It gives the debtor a breathing spell from his creditors. It stops 
all collection efforts, all harassment, and all foreclosure actions. It permits the 
debtor to attempt a repayment or reorganization plan, or simply to be relieved of 
the financial pressures that drove him into bankruptcy. 
 

H.R. Rep. 95-595, at 340 (1978), reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5787, 6296. 

The stay of proceedings was also intended to promote an orderly reorganization or 

liquidation of the debtor's estate thereby benefiting, secondarily, creditors of the estate: 

The automatic stay also provides creditor protection. Without it, certain creditors 
would be able to pursue their own remedies against the debtor's property. Those 
who acted first would obtain payment of the claims in preference to and to the 
detriment of other creditors. Bankruptcy is designed to provide an orderly 
liquidation procedure under which all creditors are treated equally. A race of 
diligence by creditors for the debtor's assets prevents that. 

 
Id., reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5787, 6297. 
 

Courts have been extremely reluctant to extend this protection to non-debtor third parties, 

recognizing that “it would distort congressional purpose to hold that a third party solvent co-
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defendant should be shielded against his creditors by a device intended for the protection of the 

insolvent debtor and creditors thereof.” Lynch v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 710 F.2d at 1197. 

See also: In re Related Asbestos Cases, 23 B.R. 523, 527 (N.D. Cal. 1982); In re UNR Industries, 

Inc., 23 B.R.144 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 1982); Ashworth v. Johns-Manville, et al., Nos. C78-470, C81-

1545, C77-4088, C79-167 (N.D. Ohio Mar. 21, 1983) at 4. 

Asbestos and other mass-tort litigation is instructive on this point, since such cases often 

involve numerous co-defendants, some of whom are solvent and some of whom are not.  In such 

cases, the solvent defendants are understandably concerned about proceeding without the 

maximum number of co-defendants and thus prefer to wait until their insolvent co-defendants 

emerge from bankruptcy.  Despite these concerns, where a debtor’s solvent co-defendants have 

moved for an extension of the automatic stay to cover them, they have been routinely denied.  

When viewed in light of the test that is typically applied by bankruptcy courts to determine 

whether a stay should be extended to a non-debtor third-party, that result is hardly surprising.  In 

In re Family Health Servs., 105 B.R. 937 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. 1989) the court succinctly 

summarized: 

Courts have applied traditional preliminary injunction tests when determining 
whether to stay actions against non-debtor parties. It has been held that: 
 

In order for the Court to enjoin a creditor's action against a co-
debtor or guarantor, the debtor must show: 1) irreparable harm to 
the bankruptcy estate if the injunction does not issue; 2) strong 
likelihood of success on the merits; and 3) no harm or minimal 
harm to the other party or parties. In Re Otero Mills, Inc., 25 Bankr. 
1018, 1021 (Bankr. N.M. 1982). In Re Larmar Estates, Inc., 5 
Bankr. 328, 331 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. 1980); In Otero 
Mills and Larmar the courts determined that "likelihood of success 
on the merits" equates to the probability of a successful plan of 
reorganization. Otero Mills, 25 Bankr. at 1021;Larmar, 5 Bankr. at 
331. 

 
The Ninth Circuit has stated the standard test to evaluate claims for preliminary 
injunctive relief as follows: 
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Under the first part of this test, the movant must show 1) 
irreparable injury, 2) probable success on the merits, 3) a balance 
of hardships that tips in the movant's favor, and 4) that a 
preliminary injunction is in the public interest. Alternatively, a 
court may issue an injunction if the moving party 
demonstrates either a combination of probable success on the 
merits and irreparable injury or that serious questions are raised 
and the balance of hardships tips in his favor. 

 
F.T.C. v. Evans Products Co., 775 F.2d 1084, 1088-89 (9th Cir. 1985).  See also,  

In re Family Health Servs., 105 B.R. 937, 943 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. 1989) 
 

Of course, the cases above all involved co-defendants, co-debtors, or guarantors.  In this 

case, the Phillips defendants lack even that once-removed connection to the Debtor.  The Phillips 

case does not name Debtor or any of its agents, employees, officers or representatives as co-

defendants or parties in any capacity.  But even applying the standard applicable to co-

defendants, co-debtors, and guarantors, Defendants are not entitled to a stay.   

There is nothing to suggest that Debtor would suffer an irreparable injury to the 

bankruptcy estate if Petitioners’ litigation regarding the constitutionality of Public Act 426 was 

to proceed during the pendency of Debtor’s bankruptcy proceedings.  Indeed, there is nothing to 

suggest that the bankruptcy estate would be in any way affected, as: (1) Debtor is not a party to 

Petitioners’ litigation; (2) Petitioners’ litigation seeks no money damages; and (3) to whatever 

extent Petitioners may be entitled to attorney fees and costs if they prevail in the underlying 

matter, such an award will be the responsibility of the State of Michigan, not Debtor, as 

Defendants are State officials. 

On the other hand, in light of the constitutional violations alleged by Petitioners in their 

complaint, Petitioners have suffered and will continue to suffer irreparable harm.  Courts have 

held that the mere fact that constitutional rights are being violated is sufficient to demonstrate 

irreparable harm. Doe v. Duncanville Independent School District, 994 F.2d 160 (5th Cir. 1993).  
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Even a temporary loss of a constitutional right constitutes irreparable harm which cannot be 

adequately remedied by an action at law. Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson, 475 U.S. 292, 106 

S.Ct. 1066, 89 L.Ed.2d 232 (1986).  Thus, not only can Debtor not demonstrate irreparable harm 

to the bankruptcy state if Petitioners’ claim against Defendants is not stayed, but it also cannot 

demonstrate “no harm or minimal harm” to Petitioners if the litigation is stayed.  As a result, 

whether analyzed under a preliminary-injunction framework or a simple balancing of the equities, 

the extension of the stay to include the Phillips case cannot be upheld. 

IV. WHERE PETITIONERS ALLEGE CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS, 
ENFORCEMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION MUST TAKE PRECEDENCE 
OVER STAYING LITIGATION AGAINST NON-DEBTOR DEFENDANTS 

 
As explained above, it is not “necessary or appropriate” that all litigation against the non-

debtor Phillips defendants, Snyder and Dillon, be stayed in order to carry out the purposes of the 

Bankruptcy Code as applied to Debtor.  But as written, that is precisely what the Extended Stay 

Order does.  No matter what the facts, no matter what the claims against the State, under the 

broad language of this Court’s Order, no lawsuit of any kind can proceed against the Governor 

or the State Treasurer until one community—the City of Detroit—emerges from bankruptcy.  

Thus, both on its face and as applied, the Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) operates to deprive all 

who reside in the entire State of Michigan of their constitutional rights of access to the courts and 

to petition for a redress of grievances. 

A court can hold a statute unconstitutional either because it is facially invalid or 

unconstitutional as applied in a particular set of circumstances.  See Coleman v. Ann Arbor 

Transp. Auth., 904 F. Supp. 2d 670, 682-83 (E.D. Mich. 2012) (citing Women's Med. Prof'l Corp. 

v. Voinovich, 130 F.3d 187, 193 (6th Cir. 1997)).  In an ‘as applied’ challenge, “the plaintiff 

contends that application of the statute in the particular context in which he has acted, or in 

which he proposes to act, would be unconstitutional.”  Women’s Med. Prof’l Corp., 130 F.3d at 
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193 (internal citations omitted).  

The stay of proceedings as applied to Petitioners’ underlying case in Phillips violates 

their rights under the United States Constitution and the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, to a 

full remedy for the deprivation of their constitutional rights.  As such, Petitioners ask this Court 

to modify the stay with respect to the Phillips case in order to avoid such constitutional 

violations under the Fifth and Fourteenth  Amendments.   

Specifically, it violates Petitioners’ right to due process in that they no longer have an 

avenue to vindicate the deprivation of their constitutional rights, as guaranteed by the 

enforcement power given to Congress by § 5 of the Fourteenth Amendment through 42 U.S.C. 

§1983, which provides: 

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or 
usage of any State . . . subjects, or causes to be subjected thereof to the 
deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution 
and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, 
or other proper proceeding for redress . . . .”  

 
42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

When Congress adopted the Fourteenth Amendment in 1868, it took steps to ensure that 

the promise of that amendment—freedom from violations of due process and equal protection by 

public officials—would be e.  Thus, in 1871, the United States Congress first enacted § 1 of the 

Klu Klux Klan Act, pursuant to § 5 of the Fourteenth Amendment with the express intent to 

provide for enforcement of that amendment to the United States Constitution, which is 

specifically entitled, “An Act to enforce the Provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

Constitution of the United States, and for other purposes.”  17 Stat. 13 (1871). 

In 1874, Congress codified the substantive portion of the 1871 Act, passing a separate 

section identical to the present version of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  The Supreme 

Court has broadly described the primary purpose of § 1983 as follows:  
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As a result of the new structure of law that emerged in the post-Civil War era—
and especially of the Fourteenth Amendment, which was its centerpiece—the role 
of the Federal Government as the guarantor of basic federal rights against state 
power was clearly established.  Section 1983 opened the federal courts to 
private citizens, offering a uniquely federal remedy against incursions under 
the claimed authority of state law upon rights secured by the Constitution 
and laws of the Nation . . . . 
 
The very purpose of section 1983 was to interpose the federal courts between 
the States and the people, as guardians of the people’s federal rights—to 
protect the people from unconstitutional action under color of state law . . . . 
 

Mitchum v. Foster, 407 U.S. 225, 238-39, 242 (1972). (emphasis added).  Throughout our 

nation’s history, therefore, the right of our citizens to enforce their rights under the U.S. 

Constitution in a United States District Court has been a bulwark of democratic principles.  

Taking away that right should not be taken lightly.   

Petitioners’ federal statutory right to vindicate the deprivation of their constitutional 

rights includes the right to have the United States District Court and a jury of Petitioners’ peers 

adjudicate their § 1983 cause of action, as guaranteed by 28 U.S.C. § 1343(3). See U.S. Const. 

amend. VII (guaranteeing the right to trial by jury); 28 U.S.C. § 1343(3) (providing that “[t]he 

district courts shall have original jurisdiction of any civil action . . . [t]o redress the deprivation 

under color of any State law . . . of any right, privilege or immunity secured by the Constitution 

of the United States . . . .”).  

Congress enacted § 1983 with the “goal of compensating the injured” and “preventing 

official illegality.”  Jaco v. Bloechle, 739 F.2d 239, 244 (6th Cir. 1984) (internal quotations 

omitted).  In doing so, it clearly established the Federal Government as the guarantor of “the 

basic federal rights of individuals against incursions by state power.”  Patsy v. Bd. of Regents of 

State of Fla., 457 U.S. 496, 503 (1981).   

The application of the automatic stay herein to Petitioners’ case contravenes the very 

purpose and intent of Congress and the Supreme Court in enacting and enforcing § 1983, to 
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provide a judicial remedy for the violation of one’s rights under the Constitution.  Accord Felder 

v. Casey, 487 U.S. 131, 148 (1988) (recognizing that civil rights actions “belong in court”) 

(quoting Burnett v. Grattan, 468 U.S. 42, 50 (1984); Mitchum, 407 U.S. at 242-43 (noting that 

the enforcement of federal rights is of the highest priority).  By delaying proceedings in the 

underlying matter indefinitely, the stay has in essence taken from Petitioners—without any 

process, let alone adequate process—the opportunity to have the deprivations of their civil rights 

adjudicated by the district court and a jury of their peers.  This stay thus precludes Petitioners 

from any relief for the violations of their constitutional rights wrought by PA 436.  See Felder, 

487 U.S. at 148. 

In this regard, Perez v. Campbell, 402 U.S. 637 (1971) is noteworthy.  In that case, the 

Court dealt with the conflict between the Bankruptcy Act and a state “financial responsibility” 

motorist statute.  In so doing, it found that the conflicts presented by the state statute violated the 

Supremacy Clause.  The Court also noted that the conflict was created, and the state law 

invalidated by the Supremacy Clause, because the state law undermined the “declared purpose” 

of the federal Bankruptcy Act. Id. at 654.  In that case the court held that there was “no reason 

why the States should have broader power to nullify federal law.” Id. at 652. 

Here, however, the Supremacy Clause is useless to resolve statutory conflicts with other 

federal legislation.  It is not the federal Bankruptcy Act that is being frustrated and interfered 

with, but rather the Civil Rights Act – i.e. the protection of individuals’ rights under the United 

States Constitution -- that is being undermined.  The exercise of this Court’s discretion in staying 

proceedings in the Phillips case – as well as other § 1983 cases -- interferes with the purpose, 

intent, and effectiveness of the federal Civil Rights Act.  As in Perez, in the Phillips case there is 

“no reason” justifying this Court’s Extended Stay Order, (Dkt. 166),  to “nullify federal law,” 

(i.e., the Civil Rights Act of 1871) such that it “frustrates” its “full effectiveness.” Id.  
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The constitutional conundrum caused by the application of the automatic stay to the 

Phillips case are well described in a recent opinion from the Eastern District of California, V.W. 

ex rel. Barber v. City of Vallejo, No. 12-1629, 2013 WL 3992403 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 2, 2013).  In 

Vallejo, the court makes the following, highly pertinent observation with regard to the issue of a 

conflict between the purposes of the Bankruptcy Code and the Civil Rights Act: 

[A]larming as it is, as the bankruptcy statute appears to be written, a 
municipality may erase its own liability to persons whom it and its officers 
have willfully and maliciously deprived of their civil rights—and even their 
lives—by filing for bankruptcy.  This extraordinary result would appear to 
exalt the bankruptcy laws over the civil rights laws (even though the civil 
rights laws, like the bankruptcy laws, are anchored in the constitution). 

 
Id. at 4.  In Vallejo, however, because neither party had actually raised this issue --and indeed the 

plaintiff had conceded the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court to discharge her claims -- the 

Court did not decide the merits of this issue.  Nonetheless, the Vallejo court went out of its way 

to identify and flag how the Bankruptcy Code, if improperly applied, may well 

unconstitutionally interfere with rights secured by § 1983 and the Fourteenth Amendment. 

 Once again, it should be noted that, unlike the Phillips  case herein, Vallejo involved 

direct claims for money damages against the debtor municipality.  In Phillips, the application of 

the stay to the non-debtor defendants is even more contrary to public policy inasmuch as it 

allows those defendants to perpetuate constitutional violations by attaching themselves to a third-

party bankruptcy proceeding. 

Rather than “exalt” the Bankruptcy Code over the Civil Rights Acts, the automatic- and 

equitable-stay provisions of the Code should be construed to be consistent with § 1983, thus 

avoiding a constitutional conflict.  Where a federal statute is overbroad, as the Bankruptcy Code 

is here, the Court should construe the statute to avoid constitutional problems if the statute is 

subject to such a limiting construction.  New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 769 (1982).  
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Here, the automatic- and equitable-stay provisions can be limited through a grant of relief 

from the stay, which is within this Court’s discretion.  In re Atl. Ambulance Assocs., Inc., 166 

B.R. 613, 615 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 1994) (noting that the bankruptcy “code gives the court a fairly 

broad discretion to provide appropriate relief from the stay as may fit the facts of the case.”); 

Capital Commc'ns Fed. Credit Union v. Boodrow, 197 B.R. 409, 413 (N.D.N.Y. 1996) aff'd sub 

nom. In re Boodrow, 126 F.3d 43 (2d Cir. 1997) (“[A] court has broad discretion to lift the stay 

in appropriate circumstances.” (internal citations omitted)). Petitioners thus ask this Court to lift 

or modify the Stay as it applies to their case, to allow the Bankruptcy Code to be read 

consistently with the constitutionally imposed values and principles of  § 1983 and, therefore, 

applied in a constitutional manner. 

CONCLUSION 

For all of the reasons stated above in their Motion attached hereto, and for good cause 

shown, Petitioners respectfully request that Extended Stay Order (Dkt. 166) be clarified, 

modified, or lifted with respect to Petitioners’ claims against the underlying defendants in the 

Phillips case, so that: 1) the constitutionality of Public Act 436 may be properly adjudicated 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 by an Article III United States District Court; and 2) Petitioners 

may amend their Complaint to provide for the voluntary withdrawal of individual plaintiffs 

Phillips, Valenti, and AFSCME Council 25 and the voluntary dismissal of Count I of their 

Complaint, without bearing on the Debtor’s rights in this bankruptcy proceeding.   

 
Dated: September 23, 2013   Respectfully Submitted,  
 

By:__/s/William H. Goodman_________________ 
William H. Goodman (P14173) 
Julie H. Hurwitz (P34720) 
GOODMAN & HURWITZ PC on behalf of the 
DETROIT & MICHIGAN NATIONAL 
LAWYERS GUILD 
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Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips, et al. 
 

     -and- 
John C. Philo (P52721) 
Anthony D. Paris (P71525) 
SUGAR LAW CENTER 
FOR ECONOMIC & SOCIAL JUSTICE 
4605 Cass Ave., 2nd Floor 
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(313) 993-4505/Fax: (313) 887-8470 
jphilo@sugarlaw.org 
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Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips et al. 
 
 
Darius Charney 
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CENTER FOR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 
666 Broadway, 7th floor 
New York, New York 10012 
(212) 614-6464/Fax: (212) 614-6499 
dcharney@ccrjustice.org 
Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips et al. 
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haslawpc@gmail.com 
Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips et al. 
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Keith D. Flynn (P74192) 
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313-961-2255/Fax: 313-961-5999 
Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips et al. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 
 
 

In re:         Chapter 9 
 
CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN,    Case No. 13-53846 
 
 Debtor.      Hon. Steven W. Rhodes 
_________________________________/ 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 
I, WILLIAM H. GOODMAN, certify that on September 23, 2013, I electronically filed 

Catherine Phillips, Et Al.’S Motion For Relief From Order Pursuant To Section 105(A) Of The 

Bankruptcy Code Extending The Chapter 9 Stay To Certain (A) State Entities, (B) Non Officer 

Employees And (C) Agents And Representatives Of The Debtor, along with a Summary of 

Attached Exhibits and Exhibits 1-6.3 (as listed on the Summary), with the Clerk of the Court 

using the ECF system which will send notification of such filing to ECF participants in this 

matter.  

 

/s/William H. Goodman_________________ 
William H. Goodman (P14173) 
GOODMAN & HURWITZ PC on behalf of the 
DETROIT & MICHIGAN NATIONAL 
LAWYERS GUILD 
1394 E. Jefferson Ave. 
Detroit, Michigan 48207 
(313) 567-6170/Fax: (313) 567-4827 
bgoodman@goodmanhurwitz.com 
Attorneys for Creditor Catherine Phillips, et al. 
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EXHIBIT 5 

None  
 

[No Affidavits Filed Specific to This Motion] 
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EXHIBIT6.1 
 

Complaint, 

Catherine Phillips, et al. v. Richard Snyder and Andrew Dillon,  

Case No.13-CV-11370 

[Doc. #1] 
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EXHIBIT6.2 
 

 Notice of Pendency of Bankruptcy Case and Application of the Stay 

in Catherine Phillips, et al. v. Richard Snyder and Andrew Dillon,  

Case No. 13-CV-11370 

[Doc. #29] 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

CATHERINE PHILLIPS, Staff Representative 
Michigan AFSCME Council 25, and Chief 
Negotiator with the City of Detroit; JOSEPH 
VALENTI, Co-Chief Negotiator with the 
Coalition of Unions of the City of Detroit; 
MICHIGAN AFSCME COUNCIL 25; RUSS 
BELLANT, President of the Detroit Library 
Commission; TAW ANNA SIMPSON, LAMAR 
LEMMONS, ELENA HERRADA, Detroit 
Public School Board Members; DONALD 
WATKINS AND KERMIT WILLIAMS, 
Pontiac City Council Members; DUANE 
SEATS, DENNIS KNOWLES, JUANITA 
HENRY AND MARY ALICE ADAMS, Benton 
Harbor Commissioners; WILLIAM "SCOTT" 
KINCAID, Flint City Council President; 
BISHOP BERNADEL JEFFERSON; PAUL 
JORDAN; REV. JIM HOLLEY, National 
Board Member, Rainbow Push Coalition; REV. 
CHARLES E. WILLIAMS II, Michigan 
Chairman, National Action Network; REV. 
DR. MICHAEL A. OWENS, REV. 
LAWRENCE GLASS, REV. DR. DEEDEE 
COLEMAN, BISHOP ALLYSON ABRAMS, 
Executive Board, Council of Baptist Pastors of 
Detroit and Vicinity, 

Plaintiffs, 

v 

RICHARD D. SNYDER, as Governor of the 
State of Michigan, and ANDREW DILLON, as 
the Treasurer of the State of Michigan, acting 
in their individual and/or official capacities, 

Defendants. 

No. 2:13-cv-11370 

HON. GEORGE CARAM STEER 

MAG. R. STEVEN WHALEN 

NOTICE OF PENDENCY OF 
BANKRUPTCY CASE AND 

APPLICATION OF THE 
AUTOMATIC STAY 
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Herbert A. Sanders (P43031) 
The Sanders Law Firm PC 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
615 Griswold Street, Suite 913 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
313.962.0099 
haslaw@earthlink.net 

Julie H. Hurwitz (P34720) 
William H. Goodman (P14173) 
Goodman & Hurwitz PC 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
1394 East Jefferson Avenue 
Detroit, Michigan 48207 
313.567.6170 
jhurwitz@goodmanhurwitz.com 
bgoodman@goodmanhurwitz.com 

Darius Charney 
Ghita Schwarz 
Center for Constitutional Rights 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
666 Broadway, 7th Floor 
New York, New York 10012 
212.614.6464 
dcharney@ccrjustice.org 

Betram L. Marks (P47829) 
Litigation Associates PLLC 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
30300 Northwestern Hwy, Ste 240 
Farmington Hills, Michigan 48334 
248.737.4444 
bertrammarks@aol.com 

Denise C. Barton (P41535) 
Ann M. Sherman (P67762) 
Michael F. Murphy (P29213) 
Assistant Attorneys General 
Attorneys for Defendants 
P.O. Box 30736 
Lansing, Michigan 48909 
517.373.6434 

I 

2 

John C. Philo (P52721) 
Anthony D. Paris (P71525) 
Sugar Law Center 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
4605 Cass Ave., 2•d Floor 
Detroit, Michigan 48201 
313.993.4505 
jphilo@sugerlaw.org 
tparis@sugarlaw .org 

Richard G. Mack, Jr. (P58657) 
Keith D. Flynn (P74192) 
Miller Cohen PLC 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
600 West Lafayette Blvd., 4th 
Floor 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
313.964.4454 
richardmack@millercohen.com 

Cynthia Heenan (P53664) 
Hugh M. Davis, Jr. (P12555) 
Constitutional Litigation 
Associates PC 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
450 West Fort St, Ste 200 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
313.961.2255 
conlitpc@sbcglobal.net 
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NOTICE OF PENDENCY OF BANKRUPTCY CASE AND 
APPLICATION OF THE AUTOMATIC STAY 

On July 18, 2013, the City of Detroit, Michigan filed a petition for relief 

under Chapter 9 of Title 11 of the United States Code. (Document 1, In re City of 

Detroit, Michigan, Case No. 13-53846, (Bankr. E.D. Mich.)) In accordance with the 

automatic stay imposed by operation of§§ 362 and 922 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 

U.S. C. §362 and 922, no cause of action filed prior to, or relating to the period prior 

to, the Petition Date may be continued or commenced against (i) the City and/or its 

employees, or (ii) an officer, employee, or inhabitant of the City, in any judicial, 

administrative or other court or tribunal to enforce a claim against the City without 

the Bankruptcy Court first issuing an order lifting or modifying the Stay for such 

specific purpose. Further, no related judgment or order may be entered or enforced 

against the City without the Bankruptcy Court first issuing an order lifting or 

modifying the State for such specific purpose. 

On July 25, 2013, the provisions of this automatic stay were extended in all 

respects (to the extent not otherwise applicable) to include certain "State Entities" 

defined as "the Governor, the State Treasurer and the members of the Loan Board, 

collectively with the State Treasurer and the Governor, and together with each 

entity's staff, agents and representatives." (Exhibit 1). Governor Snyder and 

Treasurer Dillon are named Defendants in the captioned matter which was filed 

prior to the Petition Date and which is subject to this Bankruptcy Court Order 

extending the automatic stay. 

3 
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Actions taken while this Stay is in effect and/or in violation of this Stay, 

including proceedings in this case, are void and without effect. 

The Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Michigan has not issued an 

order lifting or modifying the Stay for the specific purpose of allowing any party in 

the captioned case to continue this action against the Governor or Treasurer. 

Under these circumstance, the above-captioned proceeding may not be prosecuted, 

and no valid judgment or order may be entered or enforced against these "certain 

State Entities." 

These certain "State Entities" will not defend against, or take any other 

action with respect to, the above-captioned proceeding while the Stay remains in 

effect. 

These certain "State Entities" hereby expressly reserve all rights with respect 

to the above-captioned proceeding, including, but not limited to, the right to move to 

vacate any judgment entered in the above-captioned proceeding as void. 

Dated: August 7, 2013 

Respectfully submitted, 

BILL SCHUETTE 
Attorney General 

s I Denise C. Barton 
Denise C. Barton (P41535) 
Ann M. Sherman (P67762) 
Michael F. Murphy (P29213) 
Assistant Attorneys General 
Attorneys for Defendants 
P.O. Box 30736 
Lansing, Michigan 48909 
517.373.6434 
Email: bartond@michigan.gov 
P41535 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on August 7, 2013, I electronically filed the foregoing paper 
with the Clerk of the Court using the ECF system which will send notification of 
such. I also mailed the foregoing paper via US Mail to all non-ECF participants. 

s I Denise C. Barton 
Denise C. Barton (P41535) 
Assistant Attorney General 
Attorney for Defendants 
P.O. Box 30736 
Lansing, Michigan 48909 
517.373.6434 
E-mail: bartond@michigan.gov 
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EXHIBIT6.3 
 

Order  

Regarding Notice of Pendency of Bankruptcy Case and 

Application of the Automatic Stay, in  

Catherine Phillips, et al. v. Richard Snyder and Andrew Dillon,  

Case No.13-CV-11370 

[Doc. #30] 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

CATHERINE PHILLIPS, et al., 

Plaintiffs, 
Case No. 2:13-CV-11370 

v. 
HON. GEORGE CARAM STEEH 

RICHARD D. SNYDER et al., 

Defendants. 

--------------------------~' 
ORDER REGARDING NOTICE OF PENDENCY OF BANKRUPTCY 
CASE AND APPLICATION OF THE AUTOMATIC STAY !DOC. 291 

On August 7, 2013, defendants filed a Notice of Pendency of Bankruptcy Case 

and Application of the Automatic Stay. The Notice references the automatic stay 

imposed by operation of sections 362 and 922 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 

362 and 922, as well as the order entered by the bankruptcy court on July 25, 2013, 

which extended the automatic stay to include certain "State Entities" defmed as "the 

Governor, the State Treasurer and the members of the Loan Board .... " In re City of 

Detroit, Michigan, Case No. 13-53846 (Bankr. E.D. Mich.); Order Pursuant to Section 

105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code Extending the Chapter 9 Stay to Certain (A) State 

Entities, (B) Non Officer Employees and (C) Agents and Representatives of the Debtor 

("Extension Order"). Governor Snyder and Treasurer Dillon are named defendants in 

the captioned matter which was filed prior to the petition date and which defendants 

contend is subject to the bankruptcy court order extending the automatic stay. 

Although it is not apparent that any interests of the City of Detroit bankruptcy 

-1-
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proceedings are implicated in the case, the plain language of the stay order would apply 

to this lawsuit. 

In accordance with the broadly worded Extension Order issued by the bankruptcy 

court, this court will abide by the stay unless and until such time as an order issues 

lifting or modifying the stay to permit the captioned matter to proceed. Accordingly, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that proceedings in this case are STAYED until further 

order of the court. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that this case is CLOSED for 

administrative and statistical purposes without prejudice because the defendants are 

covered by the bankruptcy court Extension Order. This closing does not constitute a 

decision on the merits. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that if the bankruptcy stay is removed, or a party 

obtains relief from the stay, then the case may be reopened upon the motion of any 

party. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any party may apply to the bankruptcy court for 

relief from the automatic stay under 11 U.S.C. § 362 or for relief from the Extension 

Order. 

So ordered. 

Dated: August 22, 2013 
s/George Caram Steeh 
GEORGE CARAM STEEH 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

-2-
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Copies of this Order were served upon attorneys of record on 
August 22, 2013, by electronic and/or ordinary mail. 

s/Marcia Beauchemin 
Deputy Clerk 

-3-
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